IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01275

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES

Appellants

٧.

RANDY BRASWELL

Appellee

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANTS CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Melinda Lucas Peevy
(MSB#

MAYNARD COOPER & GALE, P.C. 1901 Sixth Avenue North 2400 Regions/Harbert Plaza Birmingham, Alabama 35203 Telephone: (205) 254-1000

Counsel For Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. and Scott Jones

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01275

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES

Appellants

v.

RANDY BRASWELL

Appellee

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to enforce an arbitration agreement set forth in a securities brokerage account agreement, on the grounds that the agreement is not enforceable because it is unconscionable and does not bind all of the parties involved in this lawsuit?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying case was filed against Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. ("Citigroup") on June 17, 2008 by Appellee/Plaintiff Randy Braswell ("Plaintiff" or "Appellee") in the Circuit Court of Pike County. (R.2-3). Plaintiff alleged that Citigroup failed to follow his instructions regarding his investment accounts, negligently handled his investments, and breached fiduciary duties owed to him. (R.2-3). Plaintiff alleged that Citigroup's conduct caused him to suffer \$71,326 in investment losses. (R.3).

On August 14, 2008, Plaintiff and Citigroup filed a Joint Motion to Stay Pending Arbitration. (R.4-5). In the Joint Motion to Stay, counsel for Plaintiff and Citigroup represented to the trial court that "[a]ll of the claims asserted against Citigroup in this action are subject to the arbitration clause contained in Plaintiff's Client Agreement." (R.4).

More than two months later, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Withdraw the Joint Motion to Stay. (R.6-10). The only ground Plaintiff cited for his Motion to Withdraw was that his claims were not eligible for arbitration before the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), the entity created by the merger of the National Association of Securities Delalers and the New York Stock Exchange. According to Plaintiff, his claims were not eligible for FINRA arbitration because of that organization's rule stating that claims existing for more than six years are not eligible for arbitration. (R.7-8). Citigroup informed Plaintiff that his claims are eligible for

FINRA arbitration because the six-year eligibility rule does not apply. Plaintiff, however, refused to withdraw his Motion To Withdraw Joint Motion to Stay Pending Arbitration.

On December 19, 2008, Citigroup filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Stay or Dismiss Pending Appeal. (R.11-33). In that motion, Citigroup demonstrated that all of Plaintiff's allegations fall squarely within the scope of his investment account arbitration agreement and that Plaintiff's claims are eligible for FINRA arbitration. (R.14-16).

On December 23, 2008, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint for Damages. (R.34-36). The Amended Complaint restated the same causes of action, added Citigroup broker Scott Jones as a defendant, and increased the claimed damages to \$223,000.00. (R.35).

On February 4, 2009, the trial court granted Plaintiff's Motion to Withdraw the Joint Motion to Stay Pending Arbitration. (R.58). On February 11, 2009, Citigroup and Mr. Jones filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Stay or Dismiss Pending Arbitration. (R.37-57). In this Motion, Defendants jointly asserted the same grounds for compelling arbitration as stated in the previous motion filed solely by Citigroup. In addition, the motion requested that Plaintiff be directed to reimburse Citigroup for the costs associated with the filing of the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R.42).

On May 1, 2009, Plaintiff filed his Response to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R.59-70). In his Response, Plaintiff contended for the first time that he was not required to arbitrate his claims against Defendants because the arbitration clause in the Client Agreement was vague and unconscionable. (R.60-64). Plaintiff's Response contained no argument that his arbitration agreement did not sufficiently or clearly identify Citigroup as a party entitled to enforce the arbitration agreement.

On June 25, 2009, the trial court issued its Order denying Defendants' Motion to Compel. (R.77-81). The trial court refused to compel arbitration on the grounds that the arbitration agreement is unconscionable and the agreement is ambiguous as to whether Citigroup was sufficiently identified as a party capable of enforcing the agreement. (R.77-81). On July 27, 2009, Defendants filed its Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. is an investment and stock brokerage company with its headquarters in New York and offices in Mississippi. (R.1) Smith Barney, Inc. is a division of Citigroup. (R. 20). Since at least 1996, a stock brokerage office under the Smith Barney name has operated in Magnolia, Mississippi. (R.9-10)

On June 12, 1996, Plaintiff executed a Client Agreement in connection with opening a brokerage account at Smith Barney. (R.19-22). The Client Agreement signed by Plaintiff contains a pre-dispute arbitration clause that mandates the arbitration of all disputes and controversies which may arise out of the Client Agreement and/or Plaintiff's account with Citigroup. (R.20). Plaintiff signed the Client Agreement directly below an acknowledgement which states in bold print: "I acknowledge that I have received the Client Agreement, which contains a pre-dispute arbitration clause on page 3, section 6." (R.20) (emphasis in original).

Plaintiff's Client Agreement defines the term "SB" as "Smith Barney Inc. or its direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates or their successors or assigns." (R. 21). The arbitration agreement in Plaintiff's Client Agreement is set out in **bold** text and states:

6. Arbitration

- Arbitration is final and binding on the parties.
- The parties are waiving their right to seek remedies in court, including the right to jury trial.
- Pre-arbitration discovery is generally more limited than and different from court proceedings.
- The arbitrator's award is not required to include factual findings or legal reasoning, and any party's right to appeal or to seek modification of rulings by the arbitrators is strictly limited.

• The panel of arbitrators will typically include a minority of arbitrators who were or are affiliated with the securities industry.

I agree that all claims or controversies, whether such claims or controversies arose prior, on or subsequent to the date hereof, between me and SB and/or any of its present or former officers, directors, or employees concerning or arising from (i) any account maintained by me with SB individually or jointly with others in any capacity; (ii) any transaction involving SB or any predecessor firms by merger, acquisition or other business combination and me, whether or not such transaction occurred in such account or accounts; or (iii) the construction, performance or breach of this or any other agreement between us, any duty arising from the business of SB or otherwise, shall be determined by arbitration before, and only before, any selfregulatory organization or exchange of which SB is a member. I may elect which of these arbitration forums shall hear the matter by sending a registered letter or telegram addressed to Smith Barney at 388 Greenwich Street, New York, N.Y. 10013-2396, Attn: Law Department. If I fail to make such election before the expiration of five (5) days after receipt of a written request from SB to make such election, SB shall have the right to choose the forum.

No person shall bring a putative or certified class action to arbitration, nor seek to enforce any pre-dispute arbitration agreement against any person who has initialed in court a putative class action; or who is a member of a putative class who has not opted out of the class with respect to any claims encompassed by the putative class action until: (i) the class certification is denied; (ii) the class is decertified; or (iii) the customer is excluded from the class by the court.

Such forbearance to enforce an agreement to arbitrate shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this agreement except to the extent stated herein.

(R.21-22)(bold emphasis in original).

On or about August 12, 1996, Plaintiff executed another Client Agreement in connection with the opening of a second brokerage account. (R.24-26). The arbitration clause quoted above also appears in this Client Agreement. (R.26). Plaintiff admits that he executed the Client Agreements containing the arbitration clause at issue. (R. 59).

In June 2008, Plaintiff filed a Complaint naming Citigroup – not Smith Barney – as the sole defendant and seeking damages for the actions of Scott Jones, who Plaintiff describes in a sworn affidavit as his "Smith Barney financial advisor." (R.2-3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it denied Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. Contrary to the trial court's June 25, 2009 Order, the parties should be compelled to arbitrate their dispute because (1) the arbitration clause clearly encompasses Plaintiff's claims against both Defendants, and (2) the arbitration clause is not unconscionable.

First, the arbitration clause at issue requires the Plaintiff to submit to arbitration "all claims and controversies" relating to his securities investment accounts at Smith Barney/Citigroup. This broad language clearly encompasses Plaintiff's claims arising out of Defendants' alleged mismanagement of the investments in his accounts. The trial court erroneously accepted Plaintiff's argument that Citigroup – the direct corporate affiliate of Smith Barney - was not sufficiently identified in the Client Agreement to enforce arbitration. The trial court concluded that the Client Agreement was ambiguously worded and failed to "bind any successor of Smith Barney." However, the Client Agreement expressly states that it may be enforced by either a successor entity to Smith Barney or by any direct or indirect affiliate of Smith Barney, which is a division of Citigroup. In reaching its conclusion, the trial court disregarded controlling precedent enforcing arbitration agreements with virtually identical language.

Second, the trial court's finding that the arbitration agreement signed by Plaintiff is unconscionable is not supported by the factual record or by federal or state law. The trial court

concluded that the Client Agreement was unconscionable because (1) it did not permit Plaintiff to choose between arbitration forums and (2) it would require Plaintiff "to bear the expense of the entire arbitration." The Court's first finding runs counter to established Mississippi and federal law enforcing precisely the kind of arbitration agreement that is at issue in this case. As for the Court's conclusion regarding arbitration expenses, the court had no evidence that the Plaintiff's arbitration expense would be any greater than those costs he would incur while pursuing his claims in court, nor was there any evidence that Plaintiff would bear all of that expense. In short, the trial court's finding that the Client Agreement is unconscionable is fatally flawed on both a factual and legal basis.

When Plaintiff executed Client Agreements containing an arbitration clause, he agreed to arbitrate any and all disputes which arose with respect to his Smith Barney/Citigroup investment accounts. Plaintiff initially joined in a Motion to Stay Pending Arbitration and admitted therein that all of the claims asserted against Defendants in this action are subject to the arbitration clause contained in the Client Agreement. Despite Plaintiff's change of heart and belated arguments of ambiguity and unconscionability, the fact remains that he is contractually bound to arbitrate his claims.

Because the trial court erred in denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, Defendants respectfully request that this Honorable Court reverse the trial court's June 25, 2009 Order and instruct the trial court to compel the arbitration of Plaintiff's claims and to require reimbursement of the costs incurred by Defendants in compelling arbitration in this matter.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

"The grant or denial of a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed de novo." East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). "In determining the validity of a motion to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, courts generally conduct a two-pronged inquiry. The first prong has two considerations: (1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement." Id. "Under the second prong, applicable contract defenses available under state contract law such as fraud, duress, and unconscionability may be asserted to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act." Id. "Doubts as to the availability of arbitration must be resolved in favor of arbitration. Unless it can be said with positive assurance that an arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation which would cover the dispute at issue, then a stay pending arbitration should be granted." See IP Timberlands Operating Co., Ltd. v. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 2d 96, 107 (Miss. 1998) (internal citations omitted)(bold emphasis added).

I. The Trial Court Erred When It Denied Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

The trial court's June 25, 2009 Order erroneously concluded that the Plaintiff may not be compelled to arbitrate his claims against Defendants. For the reasons discussed below, the record in this matter demonstrates that enforcement of the arbitration agreement signed by the Plaintiff is appropriate and required.

The overall validity of the Client Agreements signed by the Plaintiff cannot be seriously disputed. Plaintiff does not dispute that he signed the arbitration agreements or deny that those agreements have governed his dealings since 1996 with the Smith Barney/Citigroup branch

office in Magnolia, Mississippi. Plaintiff's written submissions to the trial court make no argument that the arbitration agreement is invalid and the trial court made no such finding. Instead, the trial court held that the Plaintiff's claims are not within the scope of the agreement due to a purported ambiguity concerning whether successors of Smith Barney are bound by the agreement. The trial court *sua sponte* invoked the principle of *ejusdem generis* to hold that the general provisions of the Client Agreement binding successors and assigns did not apply to the more specific arbitration clause. As an alternative basis for its ruling, the trial court held that the arbitration clause in Plaintiff's Client Agreements is unconscionable and unenforceable because it did not allow Plaintiff to choose his arbitral forum and because Plaintiff would have to incur expenses to arbitrate his claims.

Both of the trial court's bases for denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration are due to be reversed.

A. The Arbitration Clause Clearly Encompasses All Claims and Parties Involved In This Lawsuit.

The Client Agreement signed by Plaintiff is a contract evidencing transactions involving interstate commerce, which is subject to the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. Sections 1, et seq. See, e.g., Smith Barney v. Henry, 775 So.2d 722, 725 (Miss. 2001) (securities industry meets the minimum threshold of affecting or bearing upon interstate commerce, and thus initiates the FAA"). Federal and state courts have consistently complied with the FAA's strong federal policy favoring the arbitration of disputes by enforcing arbitration agreements between brokerage firms and their customers. See, e.g., Dean Witter Reynolds v. Byrd, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985) (noting that the FAA "leaves no place for the exercise of discretion by a district court, but instead mandates that district courts shall direct the parties to proceed to arbitration on issues as to which an arbitration agreement has been signed"); see also Shearson/American Exp.,

Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U.S. 220 (1987); Adrian v. Smith Barney, Harris, Upham & Co., 841 F.2d 1059 (11th Cir. 1988).

This Court has also echoed the FAA's presumption in favor of arbitration by stating that "[a]rticles of agreement to arbitrate, and awards thereon are to be liberally construed so as to encourage the settlement of disputes and the prevention of litigation, and every reasonable presumption will be indulged in favor of the validity of arbitration proceedings." *Smith Barney, Inc. v. Henry*, 775 So. 2d 722, 724 (Miss. 2001) (holding "the case law in Mississippi regarding arbitration and the Federal Arbitration Act are consistent with one another"). In fact, this Court has even held that "unless it can be said with positive assurance that an arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation which would cover the dispute at issue, then a stay pending arbitration should be granted." *Id.* at 725 (quoting *Wick v. Atlantic Marine, Inc.*, 605 F.2d 166, 168 (5th Cir. 1979)); *see also Becker Autoradio v. Becker Autoradiowerk Gnbh*, 585 F.2d 39, 44 (3rd Cir. 1978) (holding that "any doubts" regarding the propriety of arbitration "should be resolved in favor of arbitration unless a court can state with positive assurance that this dispute was not meant to be arbitrated.")

Notwithstanding the overwhelming mandate to interpret arbitration agreements broadly, the trial court ignored the strong presumption in favor of arbitration. The trial court found ambiguity in the arbitration clause where none exists, and ignored the rulings of other courts that have enforced arbitration clauses with similar language. See Levine v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc., 639 F. Supp. 1391 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) (enforcing a similar agreement, noting that "[i]t is difficult to imagine language broader" than the phrase "any controversy"); see also MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006) (holding that when the language

in an arbitration agreement is broad, it is necessary only for the dispute to "touch" matters covered by the contract for them to be arbitrable).

1. The Arbitration Agreement Clearly And Expressly Encompasses Citigroup, Either As Smith Barney's Successor Or Affiliate.

The trial court concluded that Citigroup was not bound by the arbitration clause and was therefore not authorized to enforce it against the Plaintiff. To reach this result, the trial court focused on one part of the Client Agreement and entirely ignored another. In order to correctly read and understand the Plaintiff's Client Agreement, the trial court should have acknowledged the definition of the abbreviated term "SB." The preamble paragraph of the Client Agreement defines "SB" as "Smith Barney Inc. or its direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates or their successors or assigns…" (R.21). Consequently, the defined meaning of "SB" applies every time the term is used throughout the Client Agreement.

The heart of Plaintiff's arbitration clause states: "I agree that all claims or controversies ... between me and SB ... shall be determined by arbitration." Applying the incorporated definition for "SB," this text effectively states: I agree that all claims or controversies between me and Smith Barney, Inc., or its direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates of their successors or assigns, shall be determined by arbitration. This language leaves no room for doubt that Citigroup is encompassed within the Smith Barney corporate affiliates that are bound by, and therefore entitled to enforce, the arbitration agreement contained in Plaintiff's Client Agreements.

In order to avoid this result, the trial court's June 25, 2009 Order seized on the fact that the Plaintiff's arbitration clause "states that it binds SB and its predecessor firms, but fails to

¹ The arbitration clause also expressly covers "present or former officers, directors, or employees" of the entity defined as "SB." Accordingly, there can be no real dispute that Scott Jones is entitled to compel arbitration of Plaintiff's claims. The trial court's order does not discuss Mr. Jones' contractual right to arbitration but rather denies the Motion to Compel Arbitration as to all defendants.

bind successors or assigns." (R.79). The trial court concluded that the arbitration clause was ambiguous because another paragraph of the Client Agreement states that all of the provisions of the Client Agreement would inure to the benefit of SB's "present organization or any successor organization..." (R.79-80). This strained interpretation is undermined by the fact that the term "SB" already had been defined in the Client Agreement to include corporate affiliates and successors. Because of that definition, any further reference to successors in the arbitration clause would have been superfluous.

When the Client Agreement and arbitration clause are correctly read in light of the definition of "SB," there is no legitimate question that the arbitration clause encompasses both Defendants. See Patnik v. Citicorp Bank Trust FSB, 412 F.Supp.2d 753, 760-761 (N.D. Ohio 2005) (holding that the exact same contractual definition of "SB" bound a plaintiff to arbitrate a dispute with Citigroup arising out of an account that had been initially opened with Smith Barney). The trial court's conclusion that Citigroup is not encompassed within the Plaintiff's arbitration agreement constitutes reversible error.

2. Rules Of Construction Are Not Necessary And Do Not Justify The Trial Court's Ruling That Citigroup Is Not Covered By The Arbitration Agreement.

The trial court *sua sponte* and incorrectly applied two principles of contract construction to exclude Citigroup from the operation of the Plaintiff's arbitration agreement. The trial court held that the principle of *ejusdem generis*—which holds that a specific contract provision prevails over a general one—supported the conclusion that corporate successors are not encompassed by the arbitration agreement. Similarly, the trial court held that the Client Agreement and the arbitration clause must be interpreted against Citigroup/Smith Barney because it drafted the document. Neither of these principles of construction were properly employed. As

demonstrated above, when the arbitration clause is read correctly to include the stated definition for "SB," the arbitration clause is just as specific as the other paragraph referenced by the trial court, so that the principle of *ejusdem generis* has no application. Furthermore, no presumption against the drafter applies when the contract is unambiguous. *See Corban v. United Services Auto. Ass'n*, 20 So. 3d 601, 609 (Miss. 2009). As explained above, the arbitration agreement is not ambiguous when the definition for "SB" is given its plain meaning and effect.

To summarize, there should be no legitimate question that Citigroup is either a successor entity or a direct or indirect affiliate of Smith Barney. In either capacity, Citigroup is expressly identified by definition as an entity that may enforce arbitration of any dispute with the Plaintiff. This Court has emphasized that arbitration must be enforced "unless it can be said with positive assurance that an arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation which would cover the dispute at issue." *Smith Barney, Inc. v. Henry*, 775 So. 2d 722, 725 (Miss. 2001) As demonstrated above, Plaintiff's arbitration agreement is susceptible of two alternative interpretations that lead inexorably to Citigroup – either as a successor or affiliate - having the right to compel arbitration.

B. The Arbitration Clause Is Not Unconscionable.

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