IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01275

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES Appellants

v.

RANDY BRASWELL Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE RANDY BRASWELL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi Honorable David H. Strong, Circuit Judge

> Wayne Dowdy (MS Bar No Angela Cockerham (MS Bar No DOWDY & COCKERHAM 215 East Bay Street Post Office Box 30 Magnolia, MS 39652

Telephone: (601) 783-6600 Facsimile: (601) 783-3670

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE, RANDY BRASWELL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2009-CA-01275

RANDY BRASWELL

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. and Scott Jones's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Two subsections of the Client Agreement create ambiguity as to whether Citigroup was encompassed as a successor to Smith Barney, and therefore a party to the arbitration agreement. Furthermore, the terms of the arbitration agreement are substantively unconscionable. When considering the fact that an ambiguity exists as it relates to determining the parties to the agreement, coupled with the fact that Braswell was not the drafter of the agreement, the trial court's ruling was fitting. In so ruling, the trial court correctly considered rules governing contract construction and defenses to contracts. Braswell respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order denying a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review. *Terminix International, Inc. v. Rice*, 904 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 2004).

The court's review consists of a two-prong inquiry: "The first prong has two considerations: (1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. Under the second prong, the United States Supreme Court has stated the question is 'whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement foreclosed arbitration of those claims." East Ford, Inc. 826 So.2d at 713 (quoting Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 626 (1985)). Applicable contract defenses available under state contract law, such as fraud, duress, and unconscionability, may be asserted under the second prong to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act. Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 686 (1996).

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS, CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC. AND SCOTT JONES'S, MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION

Despite the policy favoring arbitration, courts are required to submit to arbitration only what the parties agree to submit to arbitration. *AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Communications Workers of America*, 475 U.S. 643, 648 (1986). Contrary to arguments made by Citigroup and Mr. Jones, the arbitration clause contained in Client Agreement did not clearly bind Citigroup as Smith Barney's successor and a party to the arbitration agreement. The ambiguity leaves to question whether an agreement to arbitrate was ever formed between Braswell and Citigroup, Smith Barney's successor.

In denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the trial court ruled that, "when read as a whole, the contract is ambiguous as to which parties are bond by the contract." (R. 79). The trial court found that an ambiguity exists based on subsection 6 and subsection 7 of the Client Agreement.

The Federal Arbitration Act only confers the right to obtain an order directing that 'arbitration proceed in the manner provided for [in the parties' agreement]'; it does not bestow a right to compel arbitration of any dispute at any time. *Volt Info Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 474-75 (1989). Citigroup has no grounds on which to compel arbitration of Braswell's claims, as the arbitration agreement in the Client Agreement does not bind Citigroup, Smith Barney's successor, as a party to the arbitration agreement.

A. The arbitration clause does not encompass Citigroup as Smith Barney's successor, therefore Citigroup cannot enforce the arbitration agreement

In subsection 6, the Client Agreement specifically states that all claims or controversies that may arise between the client and SB or any of its "present or former officers, directors, or

employees concerning or arising from... any transaction involving SB or any predecessor firms by merger, acquisition or other business combination and me, whether or not such transaction occurred in such account or accounts" will be determined by arbitration.

Upon further reading of the Client Agreement, subsection 7 of the arbitration clause states that "The provisions of this Agreement shall be continuous, shall cover individual and collectively all accounts which I may open or reopen with SB, and shall inure to the benefit of SB's present organization, and any successor organization or assigns." (R. 22, 26).

The arbitration clause in subsection 6 clearly does not bind successors or assigns, such as Citigroup, to the arbitration agreement. Therefore, pursuant to the language of the arbitration clause, Citigroup is not a party to the arbitration agreement. However, it is only in subsection 7 of the Client Agreement that the provisions of the agreement are made applicable to Smith Barney's present organization or any *successors or assigns* of Smith Barney. Citigroup can hardly argue that the Client Agreement is ambiguous, as subsection 6 fails to bind successors or assigns to the arbitration agreement while subsection 7 attempts to bind all of Smith Barney's successors or assigns to the Client Agreement.

When a contract is clear or ambiguous, uncertainties should be resolved against the drafter of the agreement. Clark v. Carter, 251 So.2d 1333, 1334 (Miss 1977). A similar approach was utilized in Union Planters Bank, National Association v. Rogers, 912 So.2d 116, 119 (Miss. 2005). In Rogers, the provisions in a Union Planters Bank mail-out conflicted with the provisions in the bank's arbitration agreement. Id at 120. The general provisions of the mail-out only required "use" of the account for the terms of the arbitration agreement to be applicable, while the arbitration clause required "use" of the account and signing the signature card. Id. The court in Rogers held that:

The basic use of contract construction rules also leads us to the conclusion that the

Rogerses were not bound by Union Planters' arbitration provision. A cardinal rule of construction of a contract is to ascertain the mutual intention of the parties. *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc.*, 753 So.2d 1077, 1084 (Miss. 2000). Intent should first be sought in an objective reading of the words employed in the contract. Id. We find that the general provisions of the mail-outs and the specific provisions of the arbitration clause are in conflict... causing ambiguity. Ambiguities in contract are to be constructed against the party who drafted the contract. Id at 1085. And specific language controls over general inconsistent language controls over general inconsistent language in a contract, we find that the specific provisions of the arbitration clause supplant the general provisions.

Id.

Likewise, the rules of contract construction were correctly applied by the trial court in denying Citigroup and Mr. Jones's Motion to Compel Arbitration. At first glance, subsection 6 of the Client Agreement specifically binds the predecessors of Smith Barney, but fails to bind Smith Barney's successors or assigns. Therefore, subsection 6 does not give Citigroup standing to enforce the arbitration agreement against Braswell. However, subsection 7 of the Client Agreement generally binds Smith Barney's successors to the provisions of the agreement. In this instance, the trial court correctly applied the doctrine of *ejusdem generis* in resolving the ambiguity created by the Client Agreement. Upon reading subsections 6 and 7 of the Client Agreement, a conflict exists relative to whether Citigroup, a successor to Smith Barney, is a party to the arbitration agreement. "Where there is an inconsistency between general provisions and specific provisions, the specific provisions ordinarily qualify the meaning of the general provision." *Williams v. Batson*, 187 So.236, 239 (Miss. 1939) (citing Rest. of Contracts, Sec. 236; Williston, op. cit., Section 619). The trial court applied relevant case law in finding that the specific language in subsection 6 of the Client Agreement.

B. The arbitration clause in Client Agreement, as written, is unconscionable

An "agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such a contract, transaction, or refusal, shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. Although the Federal Arbitration Act sets forth a federal policy favoring arbitration, legal constraints external to the parties' agreement may foreclose the arbitration of those claims. *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth*, 473 U.S. 614, 628, (1985). Section 2 of the Federal Arbitration Act permits courts to grant relief where a party, who opposes arbitration, presents "well-supported claims that the agreement to arbitrate resulted from the sort of fraud or overwhelming economic power that would provide grounds 'for the revocation of any contract'". *Mitsubishi*, 473 U.S. at 627. A party may assert applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, and unconscionability, to invalidate an arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act. *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002).

Unconscionability has been defined by the Mississippi Supreme Court as "an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." *East Ford, Inc.*, 826 So.2d at 715. Two types of unconscionability have been recognized by the courts, procedural and substantive. *Id.* at 714.

At issue in this matter is the arbitration clause contained in Client Agreement. Braswell asserts that the arbitration clause in the Client Agreement is substantively unconscionable. Substantive unconscionability exists when the terms of the arbitration agreement are shown to be oppressive. East Ford, Inc. 826 So.2d at 714. In it's Order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the trial court found that "At hearing, Citigroup's attorney conceded that, since the contract was signed, all qualifying organizations had since been merged into one, effectively leaving

Braswell no choice, and that, if enforced, the arbitration agreement would require Braswell to bear the expense of the entire litigation." (R. 80).

"When reviewing a contract for substantive unconscionability, we look within the four corners of an agreement in order to discover any abuses relating to the specific terms which violate the expectations of, or cause gross disparity between contracting parties." *Vicksburg Partners, L.P.* v. Stephens, 911 So.2d 507, 521 (Miss. 2005).

The arbitration clause in the Client Agreement significantly alters Braswell's rights in that specific terms of the arbitration agreement are vague, so as to prevent Braswell from having any clear understanding of the arbitration process and so as to cause a gross disparity between the parties. In subsection 6 of the Client Agreement, the terms of the arbitration clause are unclear, in that Braswell does not know what definite legal rights he has pursuant to the arbitration clause. For example, Braswell does not know in what manner pre-arbitration discovery is limited and different from court proceedings or in what manner his rights to appeal an award or seek modifications is limited. Moreover, Braswell is not even afforded the privilege of knowing who will hear the matter, as the arbitration agreement states that a panel of arbitrators will typically include a minority of arbitrators who were or are affiliated with the securities industry. Braswell would not know details about the arbitration process by reading the arbitration clause contained in the Client Agreement.

Moreover, the costly fees that are assessed Braswell are so oppressive so as to prevent and/or deter Braswell from having his claims arbitrated. FINRA has a very detailed, intricate, and fee-oriented arbitration case flow procedure. (R. 66). In order to participate in the arbitration process, Braswell is assessed and required to pay expensive fees throughout the arbitration process. Braswell was not made aware of the arbitration case flow process when signing the Client Agreement and could not have knowledge of the arbitration case flow process from the terms of the

arbitration clause contained in the Client Agreement.

Of significance is the fact that the arbitration clause states that arbitration shall be before, and only before, any self-regulatory organization or exchange, that Braswell chooses, which Smith Barney is a member. However, as explained during the hearing, since the signing of the Client Agreement, all qualifying organizations have merged into one organization. This leaves Braswell no choice in selecting an organization to arbitrate the dispute. More importantly, this factor was not originally agreed to by Braswell in the Client Agreement.

When considering the fact that the terms of the contract are vague, afford Braswell with costly fees, and foreclose Braswell's right to select the organization to arbitrate post signing of the Client Agreement, the terms of the arbitration clause create a gross disparity between the parties. The terms of the arbitration clause are unreasonably favorable to the investment counseling and stock brokerage corporation and are oppressive to Braswell.

CONCLUSION

The trial court correctly denied Citigroup and Mr. Jones's Motion to Compel Arbitration by applying applicable rules of contract construction in finding that the arbitration clause failed to bind Citigroup as a successor of Smith Barney. Furthermore, the trial court's ruling was appropriate because state-law defenses such unconscionability may be applied to invalidate an arbitration agreement, and in the case sub judice, the terms of the contract are overwhelmingly oppressive to Braswell. Braswell respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's denial of Citigroup and Scott Jones's Motion to Compel Arbitration.